LAW SCHOOL FUNDS and ENDOWMENTS

PROFESSORSHIPS

The Harry A. Bigelow Professorship in Law was established in 1967 in honor of the late Harry A. Bigelow, who was Dean of the Law School from 1929 to 1939 and a member of the faculty of the Law School from 1904 until his death in 1950. Past holders of the Harry A. Bigelow Professorship have been Grant Gilmore, Harry Kalven Jr., and Phil C. Neal.

The Lee and Brena Freeman Professorship in Law was established in 1977 by Lee Freeman Sr., through combination with matching funds from the Ford Foundation, to support a person whose scholarly and teaching interests include the study of comparative domestic, foreign, and international mechanisms of achieving and preserving competitive business conduct and the interaction of United States and foreign antitrust, tax, and other legal regulation of international corporations to that end. The past holders of the Lee and Brena Freeman Professorship have been Richard A. Posner and Frank H. Easterbrook.

The William B. Graham Professorship was established in 1980. It was made possible through the generosity of William B. Graham, a member of the Class of 1936 and a Trustee of the University. The past holder of the William B. Graham Professorship has been Gerhard Casper.

The Harold J. and Marion F. Green Professorship in International Legal Studies was established in 1973. The professorship was made possible through the generosity of Harold J. Green and a matching grant from the Ford Foundation. Mr. Green was an alumnus of the Law School in the Class of 1928. The past holder of the Harold J. and Marion F. Green Professorship has been Kenneth W. Dam.

The Frank and Bernice J. Greenberg Professorship in Law was established in 1985 through the estate of Frank Greenberg, Class of 1932.

The James Parker Hall Distinguished Service Professorship in Law was established in 1930 by the alumni of the Law School in memory of James Parker Hall, Dean of the School from 1904 until his death in 1928. The Hall family endowed the Fund fully through a gift made in 1984. Past holders of the James Parker Hall Professorship have been Edward Wilcox Hinton, George Gleason Bogert, Wilber Griffith Katz, Sheldon Tefft, and Bernard D. Meltzer.

The Harry Kalven Jr. Professorship in Law was established in 1976 in honor of the late Harry Kalven Jr., a member of the Class of 1938, who was on the faculty of the Law School from 1946 until his death in 1974. The Kalven Chair was made possible through the generosity of the Robert R. McCormick Charitable Trust established under the will of Col. Robert R. McCormick, editor and publisher of the Chicago Tribune from 1926 to 1955. The professorship provides for perpetuity for scholarship in First Amendment studies.
The Kirkland & Ellis Professorship was established in 1984 by members of the law firm of Kirkland & Ellis, and its partner, Howard G. Krane, a member of the Class of 1957.

The Julius Kreeger Professorship in Law and Criminology was established in 1965 through the generosity of Mrs. Arthur Wolf, in memory of her late husband, Julius Kreeger, a graduate of the Law School in the Class of 1920.

The Edward H. Levi Distinguished Service Professorship was established during the 1978–79 academic year with a gift from an anonymous member of the University’s Board of Trustees. The Professorship is named in honor of Edward Hirsch Levi (Ph.B. 1932, J.D. 1935), Glen A. Lloyd Distinguished Service Professor and President Emeritus, a member of the Law School Faculty since 1936 and Dean of the Law School from 1950 to 1962. The past holder of the Edward H. Levi Distinguished Service Professorship was Walter J. Blum.

The Karl N. Llewellyn Professorship in Jurisprudence was established in 1973 by former students, colleagues, family, and other friends of Professor Llewellyn, a member of the Law School faculty from 1951 until his death in 1962. The past holders of the Karl N. Llewellyn Professorship have been Edward H. Levi and Franklin E. Zimring.

The Seymour Logan Professorship in Law was established by Mrs. Seymour Logan and their children as a memorial to Seymour Logan, a member of the College Class of 1943. The past holder of the Seymour Logan Professorship has been Spencer L. Kimball.

The Clifton R. Musser Professorship in Economics was established in 1970 by members of Mr. Musser’s family, to provide a permanent professorship in economics in the Law School. The past holder of the Clifton R. Musser Professorship has been Ronald H. Coase.

The Max Pam Professorship in American and Foreign Law was established in 1935 in memory of Max Pam, a member of the Chicago Bar, with funds allocated by the Trustees under the will of Mr. Pam. Past holders of the Max Pam Professorship have been Max Rheinstein, Gerhard Casper, and John H. Langbein.

The Max Rheinstein Visiting Professorship in Law was created in 1986 by the government of the Federal Republic of Germany in honor of Max Rheinstein, a refugee from Nazi Germany who was a member of the Law School faculty from 1935 until his death in 1977. The Professorship brings a faculty member from Germany to the Law School for one quarter each year to teach and conduct research in the area of German legal studies.

The Ruth Wyatt Rosenson Professorship was created in 1984 through a gift commitment by Mrs. Ruth Wyatt Rosenson in memory of her husband, Harry N. Wyatt, a member of the Class of 1921.

The Arnold I. Shure Professorship was established in 1971. The professorship, which focuses on urban law, was made possible by a grant from the Ford Foundation. Matching gifts were contributed by many friends and alumni of the Law School in honor of Mr. Shure, an alumnus of the Law School in the Class of 1929. (Please also see “Research and Other Funds” for the Arnold and Frieda Shure Research Fund.) The past holders of the Arnold I. Shure Professorship have been Allison Dunham and Jo Desha Lucas.
The Leo Spitz Professorship in International Law was established in 1975 with a bequest provided by the will of Leo Spitz (J.D. 1910), in memory of his parents, Caroline and Henry Spitz.

The John P. Wilson Professorship in Law was established in 1929 with funds contributed for the John P. Wilson Memorial Foundation by John P. Wilson Jr. and Anna Wilson Dickinson as a memorial to their father, a member of the Chicago Bar. Past holders of the John P. Wilson Professorship have been Ernst Freund, Harry Augustus Bigelow, Wilber Griffith Katz, Roscoe T. Steffen, Kenneth Culp Davis, and Paul M. Bator.

The Wilson-Dickinson Professorship in Law was established in 1974 by the Trustees of the University with funds from the John P. Wilson Memorial Fund, to honor the memory of the donors of the John P. Wilson Memorial Fund, John P. Wilson Jr. and Anna Wilson Dickinson. The past holder of the Wilson-Dickinson Professorship has been Walter J. Blum.

The Harry N. Wyatt Professorship in Law was created by Mr. and Mrs. Harry N. Wyatt (Ruth Fox Wyatt) in 1977. Mr. Wyatt was a member of the Law School Class of 1921 and Mrs. Ruth Wyatt Rosenson was a member of the College Class of 1927. The past holder of the Harry N. Wyatt Professorship in Law has been David P. Currie.

SCHOLARSHIP FUNDS

The Baker & McKenzie Law Student Assistance Program was created by the law firm of Baker & McKenzie in 1989 to provide scholarship support for minority law students.

The Baker & McKenzie Zurich Scholarship Fund was established in 1984 by the partners of the Zurich office of Baker & McKenzie, for the support of graduate students from Switzerland studying at the Law School.

The Russell Baker Scholarship Fund was established in 1981 by the partners of Baker & McKenzie in this country and abroad in honor of the late Russell Baker, a graduate of the Law School Class of 1925 and founder of Baker & McKenzie, for the support of foreign and upperclass students.

The James B. Blake Scholarship Fund was established in 1951 as a memorial to James B. Blake (J.D. 1907), by his friends.

The William G. Burns Scholarship Fund was created in 1988 as a moral obligation scholarship fund in memory of Mr. Burns (Ph.B. 1929, J.D. 1931) by his colleagues at the firm of Bell, Boyd & Lloyd and other friends.

The John William and Eva R. Chapman Scholarship was established in 1978 by the bequest of Mr. and Mrs. Chapman. Mr. Chapman was an alumnus of the Class of 1917.

The Chicago Bar Foundation Scholarship is made possible by annual contributions to the Law School for this purpose by the Chicago Bar Foundation.

The Irwin N. Cohen Scholarship was contributed in 1968 by friends of the late Judge Irwin N. Cohen (LL.B. 1930).

The Marcus Cohn Scholarship Fund was established in 1995 by Mr. Cohn (A.B. 1935, J.D. 1938). Proceeds of the fund are used to provide scholarship support for students in the Law School.
The Andrew D. and Eleanor C. Collins Scholarship Fund was established in 1969 by bequest under the will of Eleanor C. Collins.

The Jack Corinblit/Martin M. Shapero Scholarship Fund was established in 1984 by Jack Corinblit (J.D. 1949) and Martin M. Shapero, his law partner. The fund provides scholarship support to a second- or third-year law student.

The Decalogue Society of Lawyers Scholarship Fund was established in 1975 by the Decalogue Society of Lawyers in memory of Paul G. Annes (J.D. 1923).

The Earl B. Dickerson Scholarship Fund was established in 1984 by Mr. Dickerson, a member of the Class of 1920 and one of America’s early pioneers in the civil rights movement, in memory of his wife, Kathryn Kennedy Dickerson. The fund benefits a student who exemplifies strong moral character and who is committed to projects in the law that seek to correct social injustices.

The Harold and Milton Durchslag Endowment Fund was established in 1997 with a bequest from the estate of Harold Durchslag (Ph.B. 1932, J.D. 1934). Named also for his brother, Milton Durchslag (Ph.B. 1928, J.D. 1930), the fund is used to provide scholarships and loans to students attending the Law School.

The Donald E. Egan Scholarship Fund was created in 1997 in memory of Don Egan (J.D. 1961) by his family and friends including members of the Class of 1961 and the firm of Katten, Muchin & Zavis where he was a partner. The fund provides scholarship support and a cash award which, while based on financial need and strong academic performance, is given to students who have demonstrated interest in the Law School, leadership potential within the larger legal community, an aggressive desire to succeed tempered by integrity and a reputation for toughness, honesty, and fair dealing.

The Owen Fairweather Scholarship Fund was established as an endowed moral obligation scholarship fund in 1987 by the firm of Seyfarth, Shaw, Fairweather & Geraldson and the friends and colleagues of Mr. Fairweather in memory of Owen Fairweather (J.D. 1938).

The Edith R. and David H. Feldman Scholarship Fund was first established in 1974 as the Edith R. Feldman Fund by David H. Feldman (J.D. 1928), in memory of his wife. In 1985, it was perpetuated in their memory by their children and other members of their family, to provide scholarship support for worthy and deserving students.

The Robert S. Fiffer Memorial Scholarship was established in 1975 by the family and friends of Mr. Fiffer, who was a member of the Class of 1947.

The George W. Friede 1931 Scholarship was established by a gift and bequest of the late George W. Friede (J.D. 1931). The scholarship is awarded to qualified students who are graduates of a college or university in the state of Oregon or who have been domiciled in that state for the three years preceding the award of the scholarship.

The Friedman & Koven Scholarship was established in 1981 by the partners of Friedman & Koven to provide scholarships in the Law School.

The Edward D. Friedman Scholarship Fund was created in 1994 by Eleanor Meldahl of Truro, MA. It honors the life and career of her friend Edward D. Friedman (A.B. '35, J.D. '37), one of the nation's most distinguished labor lawyers. This scholarship fund provides financial aid to deserving law students on the basis of financial need.
The Burton and Adrienne Glazov Scholarship Fund was established in 1984 by Mr. Glazov, a member of the Class of 1963, and his wife, in honor of their parents, Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Glazov and Mr. and Mrs. Reuben Graff. The fund supports a scholarship for a student who shows both financial need and significant potential.

The Anna Weiss Graff Honor Scholarship was established in 1961 by the Julian D. Weiss and Shirley W. Weiss Foundation.

The Joseph E. Green Scholarship Fund was created in 1997 with a bequest from the estate of Mr. Green, a member of the Law School Class of 1921. The fund is used to provide financial aid to deserving students.

The Frank and Bernice J. Greenberg Scholarship Fund was established in 1985 through the estate of Frank Greenberg, Class of 1932, to provide financial support to deserving students.

The George and Mary Gregory Memorial Scholarship Fund was established in 1969 by Chris D. Gregory, who was a member of the Class of 1929, in honor of his parents, to provide scholarships in the Law School.

The Kenneth S. Haberman Scholarship Fund was established in 1986 in memory of Mr. Haberman, Class of 1959, by his wife Judith, members of the family, friends, and classmates. The fund provides scholarship support to students in financial need who have exhibited an interest in the world around them, on a continuing and serious basis, through activities, hobbies, or other non-academic interests.

The Berthold Harris Scholarship Fund was established in 1996 by the estate of Jeane T. Harris in memory of her husband Berthold Harris (J.D.'29). The fund provides scholarship support to students of the Law School.

The Jill Harris Scholarship Fund was established in 1986 by Stuart C. (J.D. 1965) and JoAnn Nathan in memory of Jill Harris. The fund is to provide financial aid for deserving students.

The George L. Hecker Scholarship Fund was established in 1997 by George L. Hecker (J.D. 1933) to provide scholarship support for students in the Law School, with preference for those who have received their undergraduate degrees from the College at the University of Chicago.

The Joseph and Marion Heffernan Scholarship Fund was created in 1995 by William C. Heffernan (J.D. 1978) in memory of his parents. The fund provides scholarship support to students on the basis of financial need.

The Stuart Cardell Hyer Scholarship was established in 1972 as a memorial to Stuart C. Hyer (J.D. 1955), by his parents, Ebba Cardell Hyer and Stanton E. Hyer (J.D. 1925).

The Illinois Bar Foundation Scholarship was established in 1989 to support a second- or third-year student with financial need.

The Kirkland & Ellis Minority Scholarship Fund was created by the law firm of Kirkland & Ellis in 1996 to provide support for minority law students at the Law School.

The Francis S. Kosmerl Fellowships were established in 1948 by a bequest under the will of Francis S. Kosmerl (J.D. 1918).
The Law School Alumni Scholarships are provided out of funds contributed by alumni. The Moses and Dorothy Levitan Scholarship Fund was established in 1985 by Mrs. Levitan in memory of Mr. Levitan, a member of the Class of 1913. The scholarship fund provides support for worthy and deserving students.

The Allen Hart Lippitz Memorial Fund was established in 1987 by Ivan and Golda Lippitz in honor of their late son, an outstanding student who aspired to a career in law. The fund supports moral obligation scholarships awarded annually to students demonstrating both financial need and the highest moral and ethical standards.

The John S. Lord and Cushman B. Bissell Scholarship Fund was established in 1979 by the firm of Lord, Bissell & Brook to honor its founding partners, John S. Lord and Cushman B. Bissell. In 1985, it became a permanent source of financial assistance to law students, providing scholarships to first- and second-year students chosen on the basis of outstanding scholastic accomplishment, leadership, and initiative.

The Hilda Loth Memorial Scholarship Fund was established in 1968 by Alan Loth, 1914, in memory of his wife, Hilda Loth, to provide an annual law scholarship.

The Edith Lowenstein Scholarship was established in 1983 by bequest under the will of Edith Lowenstein, a member of the Class of 1939. This full-tuition scholarship is to be awarded each year to a needy law student who shows promise of becoming a good lawyer due to his or her intelligence, character, and general education. The award is made on the basis of the student's progress during the first year of law school without regard to class standing.

The Robert F. and Phyllis M. Lusher Scholarship Fund was created in 1995 by Mr. Lusher (A.B. 1957, A.B. 1958, J.D. 1959) and Mrs. Lusher (A.B. 1954) to enable an international graduate student to come to the Law School for a Master of Laws (LL.M.) degree.

The Lidia and Samuele Martini Memorial Scholarship was established in 1975 by a bequest under the will of Chester Martini in memory of his parents.

The Victor McQuistion Scholarship Fund was created in 1986 by his widow, Mrs. Ethel McQuistion, and the estate of Victor McQuistion, a member of the Class of 1921. The fund is to provide financial aid for deserving students.

The Byron S. and Jeanette R. Miller Working Students Assistance Fund was created in 1996 by Byron (A.B. 1935, J.D. 1937) and Jeanette (A.B. 1936, J.D. 1937). The fund provides financial support to law students who work during the academic year while in law school.

The Robert H. and Ina M. Mohlman Fund was established in 1986 by Mr. Mohlman, a member of the Class of 1941, for the benefit of students at the Law School.

The Leonard G. Nierman Fund was established by his mother, Pauline, his wife, Bernys, and sons, Paul and James, through the Eli A. Nierman Foundation. The funds are awarded as a moral obligation scholarship, as a memorial to Mr. Nierman (a member of the Class of 1936), to a second- or third-year student who exhibits interest in a career in patent law.

The George B. Pletsch Scholarship Fund was established in 1985 by the Grover Hermann Foundation as a memorial to George B. Pletsch, a member of the Class of 1944, who was a prominent member of the legal profession and who served for many years as
a director and officer of the foundation. The fund supports moral obligation scholar-
ships which are awarded annually as determined by the Dean of the Law School.

The James Nelson Raymond Scholarship was established in 1930 from a fund given by
Anna Louise Raymond in memory of her husband, James Nelson Raymond.

The Reuben & Proctor Scholarship was established in 1982 by the law firm of Reuben
& Proctor to provide scholarships in the Law School.

The Ruth Wyatt Rosenson Scholarship Fund was established in 1989 as an endowed
scholarship by a bequest from Mrs. Rosenson. Selections are made annually based
on scholarship, financial need, moral integrity, and indications of a promising fu-
ture. Recipients are known as Ruth Wyatt Rosenson Scholars.

The Ben and Althea Rothbaum Scholarship Fund was created in 1991 to provide schol-
arships for students attending the Law School. Mrs. Rothbaum created the Fund
through a bequest in her estate in honor of her late husband, a member of the Law
School Class of 1921.

The Malcolm Sharp Scholarship Fund was established in 1982 by members of the Class
of 1952 to provide scholarships in the Law School in honor of Law School Professor
Malcolm P. Sharp (1933–65).

The Arnold I. Shure Memorial Scholarship Fund was created in 1992 by the Jewish Stu-
dents’ Scholarship Fund, Inc., and Thanks to Scandinavia, Inc., in memory of Mr. Shure,
a member of the Class of 1929, to provide financial aid to deserving students.

The Daniel C. Smith Scholarship Fund was created in 1992 by Daniel C. Smith (A.B.
1938, J.D. 1940). Proceeds from this endowed fund are used to provide financial aid
to deserving and academically promising students at the Law School.

The Edmund A. Spencer Scholarship Fund was established in 1994 with a bequest from the
estate of Mr. Spencer, a Chicago CPA/attorney, who was one of the first specialists in
federal income taxation. Proceeds from the Fund are used to provide scholarships to
academically promising students in the Law School who are dependent in whole or in
part upon their own efforts to provide the means of obtaining a legal education.

The Stepan Chemical Company Scholarship, established in 1972 by the Stepan Chemi-
cal Company, is awarded on the basis of academic achievement and financial need
to a third-year student, a person likely to make a constructive contribution to soci-
ey either as a practicing lawyer or in other leadership capacities within the profes-
sion. Paul H. Stepan is a member of the Class of 1970.

The Stonewall Scholarship was created in 1989 and is awarded by the Dean of Stu-
dents to a Law School student who is likely to use his or her legal education to
further gay and lesbian rights.

The Marvin T. Tepperman Scholarship Fund was created in 1991 by Jane Price
Tepperman in honor of her late husband, a member of the Law School Class of 1949
and a leading corporate attorney in San Francisco. This Fund provides financial aid
for deserving students.

The William W. Wilkow Scholarship Fund was established in 1984 by the law firm of
Wilkow & Wilkow, P.C., in honor of William W. Wilkow (J.D. 1948). The scholarship
is awarded to a second- or third-year student who shows academic promise and
exhibits financial need.
The Harry N. Wyatt Scholarship was established through the estate of Mr. Wyatt to provide scholarships in the Law School. Mr. Wyatt was a member of the Law School Class of 1921.

The S. K. Yee Scholars Fund was established in 1983 by the S. K. Yee Scholarship Foundation in honor of General Yee, Chairman of the Board of the United Chinese Bank of Hong Kong. These moral obligation scholarships are awarded annually to twenty law students as determined by the Dean of the Law School.

PUBLIC SERVICE FUNDS

The Braeside Foundation Public Service Fund was created in 1995 to provide supplemental grants to students of the Law School who accept summer internships with pro bono or public service organizations.

The James C. Hormel Public Service Fund was created in 1986 by Mr. Hormel, a member of the Class of 1958 and Dean of Students at the Law School from 1961 to 1967, to support the James C. Hormel Public Service Program at the Law School. This program is designed to encourage participation by students and graduates in public service activities.

The Thomas Loren Karsten Public Service Fund was created in 1990 by Marilyn Herst Karsten (Ph.B. 1944) and the Marilyn and Thomas Karsten Foundation. This fund honors the memory of Thomas Loren Karsten (Ph.B. 1937, J.D. 1939), whose long career included distinguished public service. Through the Law School’s Public Service Program, the Karsten Fund helps to ease the financial burden faced by students and graduates considering careers in public service.

The John M. Kimpel Fund was created in 1995 by Mr. Kimpel, a member of the Class of 1974, to provide support for summer internships for law students in the Mandel Legal Aid Clinic.

The Myndl and Hyman M. Spector Fund provides supplemental grants to support students who accept public service positions during the summer. The fund was established in 1982 by Mr. and Mrs. Spector’s family in recognition of their lifelong devotion to civil liberties.

The Lynn and Allen Turner Fellowship was created in 1991 by Allen Turner (J.D. 1961) on the occasion of his 30th Reunion. The Fellowship provides support for a Law School student undertaking a summer clerkship at the David V. Kahn Religious Liberty Resource Center of the American Jewish Congress.

The Maurice S. and Helen R. Weigle Fund for Public Service was created in 1989 by Helen R. Weigle (A.B. 1935), Alice Weigle Kraus, Douglas M. Kraus (J.D. 1973), and Babs Weigle Maltenfort in memory of Maurice S. Weigle (Ph.B. 1933, J.D. 1935). The Fund currently supports the loan forgiveness portion of the Law School’s Public Service Program, with a particular focus on alumni who utilize their skills in the protection of the rights and welfare of children.

The Hubert L. Will Fund for Clinical Legal Education was established in 1995 by the family and friends of Judge Will (A.B. 1935, J.D. 1937), whose distinguished legal career included 34 years as a U.S. District Court judge. The fund is used to support the work of students in the Law School’s Mandel Legal Aid Clinic in the area of
criminal justice; or in such programs that, in the opinion of the Dean, would best reflect the creativity, integrity and the concern for the individual exemplified in the career and values of Judge Will.

**Fellowship Funds**

*The Altheimer & Gray Fellowship in Graduate Legal Studies* was created in 1993 by the Chicago firm of Altheimer & Gray. The Fellowship annually supports a qualified lawyer either from Poland or from the Czech Republic pursuing the Master of Laws degree at the Law School.

*The Victor H. Kramer Foundation Fellowship* was established in 1976 by the Victor H. Kramer Foundation of Washington, D.C., for mid-career training of employees of the Federal Trade Commission and the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice. The Kramer Fellowship Program is offered in alternate years with the Institution for Social and Policy Studies at Yale University.

*The Tony Patiño Fellowship* was established in 1983 at the University of Chicago Law School in memory of Antenor Patiño Jr., in keeping with his philosophy and his intention to help his fellow law students. The Fellowship is “trying to identify leaders, people of character and capability.” The title of “Fellow-Elect” and a grant of not less than $7,500 are awarded annually to law students selected by the Fellowship’s Selection Committee. The fellowship award and all renewals are determined by committees independent of the Law School.

*The James Nelson Raymond Fellowship* was created in 1933 and 1934 by Anna Louise Raymond.

*The Daniel C. Smith Fellowship* was established in 1980 to support a student during the summer for research in support of legal services to indigent clients in the University community. The fellowship honors Daniel C. Smith, a graduate of the Class of 1940, and was made possible through gifts from the FMC Corporation, the Amoco Foundation, and the law firm of Kirkland and Ellis.

*The Thyssen Fellowships* were created in 1979 under a grant from the Fritz Thyssen Stiftung of Cologne, Germany, to assist scholarly and student exchanges between the Law School and German universities.

*The Edgar Wayburn Fellowship in Environmental Law* was established in 1990 by Daniel Greenberg (J.D. 1965) in honor of Dr. Wayburn. The Fellowship underwrites a summer clerkship at the Sierra Club Legal Defense Fund for a Law School student. Dr. Wayburn is an ardent environmentalist and former President of the Sierra Club.

**Loan Funds**

*The Harry A. Bigelow Loan Fund* was established in 1929 by the Law School Class of 1929 in honor of the late Dean Bigelow.

*The Robert Binninger Memorial Loan Fund* was established in 1986 through a bequest from Mr. Binninger to provide loans to law students at the University.

*The Bernhardt Frank Loan Fund* was established in 1952 by Louis H. Silver (J.D. 1928), in honor of his brother-in-law, an outstanding appellate lawyer.
The Ernst Freund Loan Fund was established in 1922 by the late Professor Ernst Freund and since his death has been augmented by other contributions.

The Raphael and Rose, Joseph A. and Martha Bloch Golde Loan Fund was established in 1955 by provision of the will of the late Joseph A. Golde (J.D. 1915), in memory of his parents.

The James Parker Hall Loan Fund was established by the alumni of the Law School in memory of the late Dean Hall.

The Ronald G. Hillebrand Memorial Loan Fund was established in 1962 by the Class of 1962 and other friends of Ronald G. Hillebrand in his memory; it is available to third-year, married students of the Law School.

The Harold S. Lansing Loan Fund was established in 1972 in memory of Mr. Lansing, a graduate of the Law School in the Class of 1928, through the generosity of his friend and classmate, Harold J. Green.

The Law School Student Loan Fund.

The Glen A. Lloyd Student Aid Fund was established in 1975 by friends of Glen A. Lloyd in his memory. Mr. Lloyd, former Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the University, was a graduate of the Class of 1923.

The Louis M. Mantynband Loan Fund was established by his partners in memory of Mr. Mantynband, a member of the Class of 1920.

The Floyd R. Mechem Loan Fund for law students was established in 1921 by the late Professor Floyd R. Mechem.

The Esther Jaffe Mohr Memorial Loan and Scholarship Fund was established in 1966 in memory of Mrs. Mohr (J.D. 1920), a distinguished Chicago lawyer, by Judith Mohr Joyce, Elaine Goodman Mohr (J.D. 1954), and David L. Mohr (J.D. 1959). Preference is to be given to women.

The Harvey Puchowitz Loan Fund was established in 1955 by friends of Harvey Puchowitz (J.D. 1954), in his memory.

The Anna Louise Raymond Loan Fund was established in 1932 for the benefit of students in the Law School, with preference to be given to women.

The Julius Rosenthal Fund was established in 1903 in memory of Julius Rosenthal, by the late Judge Julian W. Mack, formerly a professor in the School.

The Frederick and Edith Shaffer Sass Loan Fund was established by Frederick Sass Jr. (Ph.B. 1930, J.D. 1932) and Louis Sass (S.B. 1932), in memory of their parents.

The Earl K. Schiek Loan Fund was established through the generosity of the late Mr. Schiek, a member of the Law School Class of 1920.

The Alta N. and Channing L. Sentz Loan Fund for worthy and deserving students was established in 1971 by a bequest under the will of Channing L. Sentz, a graduate of the Law School in the Class of 1908.

The Ben and May Shapiro Loan Fund, established by Robert B. Shapiro (J.D. 1935), in memory of his parents, is available to students, preferably in the Law School, who depend in whole or in part on their own efforts to secure an education.

The Florence and Irving Stenn Loan Fund was established in 1970 by Irving N. Stenn Sr. (J.D. 1927) and Florence Stenn.
The Richard M. Stout Clinical Loan Fund was established in 1997 by Richard M. Stout (J.D. 1944) to provide interest-free loans to students working in the Mandel Legal Aid Clinic who, upon graduation, plan on entering some form of public-interest law.

RESEARCH AND OTHER FUNDS

The Ameritech Fund in Law and Economics was established in 1986 by the Ameritech Foundation to underwrite research, writing, and scholarship in the field of Law and Economics.


The Paul M. Bator Research Fund was created in 1989 in memory of Professor Bator by his family and friends to support faculty research in the field of federal jurisdiction.

The Walter J. Blum Faculty Research Fund was created in 1988 by Professor Blum's friends, admirers, and former students in honor of his long and distinguished career. The fund provides support for faculty research in the areas of taxation, corporate finance and reorganization.

The Arnold and Samuel Chutkow Memorial Fund was established in 1958 as a memorial to Arnold M. Chutkow (J.D. 1951), through a gift from Samuel Chutkow (J.D. 1920), and the friends and classmates of Arnold Chutkow, to support the student moot-court competition. In 1981 it was also designated as a memorial to Samuel Chutkow.

The Frank Cicero Jr. Faculty Fund was created by Frank Cicero Jr. (J.D. 1965) on the occasion of his 25th Reunion. The proceeds of the fund are used to recruit, encourage, and support outstanding faculty members.

The Norton Clapp Fund was created in 1986 by Mr. Clapp, a member of the Class of 1929. As an endowed fund, it is to underwrite special needs of the Law School as determined essential and appropriate by the Dean.

The Clinical Legal Education Fund, formerly the Mandel Legal Aid Clinic Fund, was established by alumni in 1973 to support the activities of the clinical program at the Law School as represented by the Mandel Legal Aid Clinic.

The John Dewey Lectureship in Jurisprudence was established in 1981 by the John Dewey Foundation.

The Aaron Director Fund for the Study of Law and Economics was established in 1986 by an anonymous donor in honor of Aaron Director, Professor of Economics Emeritus at the Law School. The fund promotes the study of law and economics through fellowships, assistance to the Journal of Law and Economics when desirable, and in other similar ways.
The Isaiah S. Dorfman Fund was created by Mr. Dorfman (Ph. B. ‘28, J.D. ‘31) in 1976 to support library acquisitions and an annual student prize for work in the area of labor law. In 1993, Mr. Dorfman asked that the proceeds of the Fund be diverted to support The University of Chicago Law School Roundtable, the student-edited scholarly journal.

The James H. Douglas Jr. Fund for the Study of Law and Government was created in 1988 in memory of Mr. Douglas, a Trustee of the University, by his colleagues at the firm of Gardner, Carton & Douglas, clients and other friends. The Fund supports the Law School’s program in Law and Government.

The Joseph N. DuCanto Dean’s Discretionary Fund was created by Mr. DuCanto (J.D. 1955) in 1992. The Fund is utilized by the Dean of the Law School to support the central mission of the institution, allowing the Dean to address pressing needs and unique opportunities as they arise.

The George E. Fee Jr. Memorial Fund, established in 1976 in memory of George E. Fee Jr. (J.D. 1963), who served as Director of Placement and later Dean of Students in the Law School from 1965 to 1969, is used to support activities or grants that will aid students or the quality of student life.


The Daniel and Phyllis Fischel Fund was created in 1990 by Professor Fischel (J.D. 1977), a member of the Law School faculty since 1984. Mr. Fischel is the Lee and Brena Freeman Professor of Law and Business and is the former Director of the Law and Economics Program. The purpose of the Fund will be determined at a later date.

The Lee and Brena Freeman Faculty Research Fund was created in 1986 by Mr. Lee A. Freeman Sr. to provide faculty support for research and study. In 1997-98, the fund supported research leading to the following publication: David A. Strauss, "The Illusory Distinction Between Equality of Opportunity and Equality of Result," in Redefining Equality 51, Neal Devins and Davison M. Douglas, eds., Oxford University Press.

The Barbara J. and B. Mark Fried Dean’s Discretionary Fund was created in 1989 by Mr. (J.D. 1956) and Mrs. (A.B. 1954, J.D. 1957) Fried in honor of Jo Desha Lucas, Professor of Law Emeritus and former Dean of Students. The fund is used to further the educational and scholarly missions of the Law School.

The Herbert and Marjorie Fried Faculty Research Fund was established in 1980 by Mr. and Mrs. Fried to assist in providing support for faculty. Mr. Fried is an alumnus of the Law School Class of 1932. In 1997-98, the fund supported research leading to the following publications: Albert Alschuler, "Two Guns, Four Guns, Six Guns, More Guns: Does Arming the Public Reduce Crime?" 31 Valpariso University Law Review 365, and "Dunwody Distinguished Lecture in Law: The Descending Trail: Holmes’ Path of the Law One Hundred Years Later," 49 Florida Law Review 353.
The Maurice and Muriel Fulton Lectureship in Legal History was created in 1985 through a gift made by Mr. Fulton, a member of the Class of 1942, and his wife Muriel, an alumna of the college. Its purpose is to underwrite a lectureship in legal history.

The Haythe & Curley Fund was created in 1993 by Stephen C. Curley (J.D. '69) in honor of his firm and in celebration of his 25th Reunion. Proceeds of the Fund are used at the discretion of the Dean to support the central scholarly mission of the Law School by underwriting initiatives undertaken by its students and faculty.

The Herbert F. Geisler Mandel Clinic Fund was created in 1985 to honor Mr. Geisler, Class of 1929, by one of his classmates. The fund underwrites special projects in the Edwin F. Mandel Legal Aid Clinic.

The Burton and Adrienne Glazov Faculty Fund was created in 1990 by Burton (J.D. 1963) and Adrienne Glazov in honor of the graduation from the Law School of their daughter, Alison (J.D. 1990). The proceeds of the fund are used to support the recruitment and retention of outstanding teachers and scholars for the faculty.

The Irving H. Goldberg Family Fund was created in 1988 by Mrs. Jane Wolfsohn Goldberg (Ph.B. 1932) and the Goldberg family in memory of Mr. Goldberg (Ph.B. 1926, J.D. 1927). The fund is used to promote diversity within the student body.

The Dwight P. Green Sr. Fund for Studies in Criminal Justice was established in 1973 by Dwight P. Green for support of the Law School's continuing research and teaching program in crime control and criminal justice. Mr. Green was an alumnus of the Law School in the Class of 1912.

The Harold J. Green Faculty Recruitment and Retention Fund was created in 1989 by Marion Green, the Green family, and the Harold J. Green Foundation in memory of Harold J. Green (Ph.B. 1927, J.D. 1928). The proceeds of the fund are used to provide housing support and salary supplements for the recruitment and retention of outstanding teachers and scholars for the faculty of the Law School.

The Daniel and Susan Greenberg Law School Fund was established in 1986 by Daniel (J.D. 1965) and Susan Greenberg in honor of the late Honorable Benjamin Landis, a member of the Class of 1930, as a fund, expendable at the Dean's discretion.

The Frank Greenberg Dean's Discretionary Fund was established in 1985 through the estate of Frank Greenberg, Class of 1932, to be used at the discretion of the Dean of the Law School.

The Joseph H. Hinshaw Research Fund was created in 1989 by the Trust of Madeline E. Hinshaw in memory of her husband, a past president of the Illinois State Bar Association and a Fellow of the American College of Trial Lawyers. The fund is used to support the scholarly activities of the University of Chicago Legal Forum.

The Lawrence T. Hoyle Jr. Faculty Fund was created in 1990 by Lawrence T. Hoyle Jr. (J.D. 1965) in honor of his 25th Reunion. The fund provides support for the recruitment, encouragement, and support of outstanding members of the faculty.

The Insurance Research Fund was created in 1985 by a distribution of funds for the benefit of the Law School. The fund underwrites faculty research regarding workmen's compensation insurance and related areas.

The Harry Kalven Jr. Memorial Fund was established in 1974 by the family, friends, and former students of Harry Kalven Jr. (J.D. 1938). Mr. Kalven, who had been a
member of the faculty since 1946, was the Harry A. Bigelow Professor of Law at the time of his death.

The Wilber G. Katz Lectureship was established in 1976 in honor of Wilber G. Katz, Dean of the Law School from 1940 to 1950, to fund an annual lectureship on a legal topic of significance by a member of the faculty of this law school.

The Miriam Hamilton Keare Environmental Law Fund (ELF) was created in 1989 by Miriam Hamilton Keare (J.D. 1933) to support student research, bring speakers to the Law School, fund summer and part-time public service work by law students, and public service work by graduates of the Law School in the area of environmental law.

The Daniel P. Kearney Faculty Research Fund was created in 1995 by Mr. Kearney, a member of the Class of 1965, in honor of his 30th Law School Reunion. Income from the fund is used to support faculty research in the field of corporate governance.

The Samuel J. Kersten Faculty Fund was established in 1985 by the Samuel J. Kersten Family Foundation for the purpose of supporting faculty research at the Law School. The gift was made in honor of the 50th Graduation Anniversary of Bernard G. Sang (J.D. 1935).

The Lillian E. Kraemer Fund was created by Ms. Kraemer, a member of the Class of 1964, in 1993, in anticipation of the 30th anniversary of her graduation. Pending future designation, Ms. Kraemer has authorized the Dean of the Law School to use this gift to meet the immediate needs of faculty and students, and to address opportunities and problems as they arise.


The Lawyer Dean's Discretionary Fund was established by the estate of Aloha Lawver, wife of Jesse Lawver (J.D. 1929), in 1998 to support the Mandel Legal Aid Clinic, the library, and student scholarships.

The Carl S. Lloyd Faculty Fund was established in 1973 by Carl S. Lloyd, a member of the Class of 1920, to assist in providing faculty support.

The Frank D. Mayer Fund was established in 1985 through a gift from the Nathan and Emily Blum Foundation in honor of Mr. Mayer, Class of 1929, a friend and counselor of Mr. and Mrs. Blum. The fund underwrites projects in the Center for Studies in Criminal Justice at the Law School.

The Mayer, Brown & Platt Endowed Faculty Research Fund was established in 1986 by members of the law firm for the support of faculty research.

The Margaret & Richard Merrell Fund in Taxation was created in 1990 to support faculty conducting scholarly research and one or more fellowships for students
undertaking a special research project in the area of taxation. The Fund was established by the Margaret and Richard Merrell Foundation under the aegis of its president, Herbert Portes (A.B. 1934, J.D. 1936).

The Charles J. Merriam Faculty Fund was established in 1979 by Mr. and Mrs. Charles J. Merriam, to support distinguished faculty, visiting faculty from other schools, or individuals from public or private practice. Mr. Merriam was an alumnus of the Law School Class of 1925.

The Michael E. Meyer Fund was created in 1991. It is used at the discretion of the Dean of the Law School to support projects and underwrite programs central to the academic and scholarly mission of the Law School. Mr. Meyer is a member of the Class of 1967 and created the Fund on the occasion of the 25th anniversary of his graduation.

The Clifton R. Musser Law Lectureship Fund was established in 1956 with a gift from the General Service Foundation to bring to the Law School a former government official to reflect on some phase of the problems of government at the local, state or federal level.

The Stuart C. and JoAnn Nathan Faculty Fund was created in 1989 by Stuart C. (J.D. 1965) and JoAnn Nathan in honor of Mr. Nathan's 25th Reunion. The fund provides support for the scholarly research of members of the Law School faculty.

The Nussbaum Fund was created in 1983 by Bernard J. Nussbaum (J.D. 1955) and was endowed in 1990 on the occasion of Mr. Nussbaum’s 35th Reunion and in honor of his brother, Michael (J.D. 1961), and his sons, Peter (J.D. Yale 1985) and Andrew (J.D. 1991). Currently, the proceeds of the fund are utilized at the discretion of the Dean to support the central mission of the Law School.


The George J. Phocas Fund was established in 1994 by Mr. Phocas (A.B. 1950, J.D. 1953) to support faculty research. The proceeds of the fund are to be used to support research in the field of private international law.

The Max Rheinstein Research Fund in Family Law was created in 1977 in honor of Professor Rheinstein by his friends and former students to underwrite faculty research in the field of family law.

The Leonard M. Rieser Memorial Fund was established in 1959 by the family and friends of Leonard M. Rieser, a distinguished Chicago lawyer and a former Lecturer in Law at the Law School, as a memorial to him to be used in a manner consistent with his wide and varied interests in law. Currently the fund supports the Workshop in Legal History in the Law School.
The Robert B. Ro exterior Faculty Fund was established in 1977 by Robert B. Ro exterior, a member of the Class of 1936, to assist in providing faculty support.

The Andrew M. and Betsy B. Rosenfield Fund was created in 1990 in anticipation of the university's Centennial celebration. Mr. Rosenfield is a member of the Class of 1978 and for several years has served as a Lecturer in Law at the Law School. The Fund will be designated at a later date.

The Bernard G. Sang Faculty Fund was established in 1973 by Bernard G. Sang, a member of the class of 1935, to assist in providing faculty support. In 1997-98, the fund supported research leading to the following publications: Richard Ross, "The Commoning of The Common Law: The Renaissance Debate over Printing English Law, 1520-1640," 146 University of Pennsylvania Law Review 323 and "The Memorial Culture of Early Modern English Lawyers: Memory as Keyword, Shelter, and Identity, 1560-1640," 10 Yale Journal of Law and the Humanities 229.

The Elsie O. and Philip D. Sang Faculty Fund was established in 1984 by a gift from the Elsie O. and Philip D. Sang Foundation in honor of Bernard G. Sang, a member of the Class of 1935, to assist in providing faculty teaching and research support.

The Sawyer Fund for Studies in Jurisprudence was established in 1975 by Fay Horton Sawyer to support research in jurisprudential studies. Mrs. Sawyer received her A.B. degree in 1944 and her Ph.D. degree in 1964.

The Walter V. Schaefer Fund was created in 1995 by Nancy Schaefer (J.D. 1974) and Chester T. Kamin (J.D. 1965). The fund honors Ms. Schaefer's father who graduated from the Law School in 1928 and whose distinguished legal career included service as a Justice of the Illinois Supreme Court. The fund supports visiting faculty who study law from the perspective of the generalist.

The Ulysses S. and Marguerite S. Schwartz Memorial Fund was established in 1974 by the friends and family of Ulysses and Marguerite Schwartz. The fund is used to support visits to the Law School of distinguished lawyers, whose experience may be in the academic field or in practice or public service.

The Morton C. Seeley Fund was established in 1971 by a bequest under the will of Mrs. Morton C. Seeley in memory of her husband, Morton C. Seeley, a graduate of the Law School in the Class of 1910.

The John N. Shephard Dean's Discretionary Fund was created in 1986 by Mr. Shephard, a member of the Class of 1941, for use at the Dean's discretion, preferably for new and unusual opportunities.

The John N. Shephard Fund for Clinical Legal Education was established in 1995 by Mr. Shephard, a member of the Class of 1941. The proceeds of the fund are used to support the educational experience of students working in the Mandel Legal Aid Clinic at the Law School.

The Arnold and Frieda Shure Research Fund, one of the Law School's first and largest funds of its type, was created in 1945 to fund legal studies pertaining to the public welfare, e.g., housing, restrictive covenants, the small investor, and other such problems which touch closely the needs of the underprivileged or inadequately protected ordinary citizen. In 1991, by agreement, the purposes of the Fund were expanded to support significant publications, including books and articles, by senior members of
the Law School's faculty. Recipients of grants from the Fund are given the title "Shure Scholars" and are charged with upholding the high standards of scholarly inquiry established by their predecessors. In addition, the Fund may be used from time to time to support the acquisition of rare books or rare documents for the Law Library. More than 250 friends of Mr. Shure and of the Law School also have established the Arnold I. Shure Professorship (see "Professorships"). In 1997-98, the fund supported research leading to the following publications: Mary E. Becker, "Lesbians, Desire for 'Women,' and Sexual Orientation," in Seductions of Justice: Lesbians & Law // Theories and Practices, Ruthann Robson, ed., Routledge, "Questions Women (and Men) Should Ask When Selecting a Law School," 11 Wisconsin Women's Law Journal 417, "Don't Just Hear It Through the Grapevine: Studying Gender Questions at Your Law School," ABA Commission on Women in the Profession, and "Women, Morality, and Sexual Orientation," 8 U.C.L.A. Women's Law Journal, 165; and Richard Ross, "The Commoning of The Common Law: The Renaissance Debate over Printing English Law, 1520-1640," 146 University of Pennsylvania Law Review 323 and "The Memorial Culture of Early Modern English Lawyers: Memory as Keyword, Shelter, and Identity, 1560-1640," 10 Yale Journal of Law and the Humanities 229.

The Sonnenschein Fund was established as an endowed fund in 1984 by the partners of Sonnenschein Nath & Rosenthal in honor of Leo J. Carlin (J.D. 1919), Bernard Nath (J.D. 1921), and Samuel R. Rosenthal. Until a permanent designation is made, income from this fund is to be used at the discretion of the Dean of the Law School. In 1997-98, the fund supported research leading to the following publications: David P. Currie, "The Constitution in Congress: Jefferson and the West, 1801-1809," 39 William & Mary Law Review 1441 and "The Constitution in Congress: The Most Endangered Branch, 1801-1805," 33 Wake Forest Law Review 219.

The Leonard Sorkin Faculty Fund was established in 1984 by Leonard Sorkin for the purpose of supporting faculty research at the Law School. The gift was made in honor of the Fiftieth Graduation Anniversary of Bernard G. Sang (J.D. 1935). In 1997-98, the fund supported research leading to the following publications: Albert W. Alschuler, "Two Guns, Four Guns, Six Guns, More Guns: Does Arming the Public Reduce Crime?," 31 Valparaiso University Law Review 365 and "Dunwody Distinguished Lecture in Law: The Descending Trail: Holmes' Path of the Law One Hundred Years Later," 49 Florida Law Review 353.

The John N. Stern Fund was created at the Law School to support the recruitment and retention of outstanding faculty members. Mr. Stern is a graduate of the University's Laboratory School, Oberlin College and Harvard Law School, and a longtime friend and supporter of the Law School and the University.

The Wadmond Dean's Discretionary Fund was established by the estate of Lowell (J.D. 1924) and Mary Elita Wadmond in 1997 to further the education and scholarly missions of the Law School.

The Jerome S. Weiss Faculty Research Fund was established in 1980 through the generosity of Mrs. Gertrude Weiss Goodwin in memory of her late husband, Jerome S. Weiss, a graduate of the Law School Class of 1930. Mr. Weiss's partners in the Chicago law firm of Sonnenschein Nath & Rosenthal, as well as friends of Mr. Weiss, have made substantial contributions to the fund. In 1997-98, the fund supported research leading to the following publications: Dan M. Kahan, "Social Meaning and

The Bobette and James Zacharias Fund was established in 1982 by family and friends in honor of James L. Zacharias (Class of 1935) on the occasion of his 70th birthday. The fund provides support for the work of the Mandel Legal Aid Clinic.

CLASS FUNDS

The Class of 1915 Scholarship was endowed by the Class of 1915 and is awarded annually to a second-year student in the Law School.

The Class of 1930 Fund was established in 1980 and endowed in 1982 by the members of the Class of 1930 to provide unrestricted funds for the Law School.

The Class of 1932 Scholarship Fund was established in 1968 and endowed in 1982 by members of the Class of 1932 to provide scholarships in the Law School.

The Class of 1935 Scholarship Fund was established in 1968 by members of the Class of 1935 to provide a full tuition scholarship annually to a student in the Law School.

The Class of 1940 Fund was created in 1990 on the occasion of the Class's 50th Reunion. The proceeds of the fund are designated for the support of student financial aid and the central educational and scholarly mission of the Law School as determined by the Dean.

The Class of 1941 Scholarship Fund was established in 1981 by members of the Class of 1941 to provide scholarships in the Law School.

The Class of 1942 Fund was created by members of the Class in 1992, on the occasion of their 50th Reunion. The fund currently provides unrestricted support for academic programs and other needs as identified by the Dean.

The Class of 1947 Fund was established in honor of the Class's 45th Reunion in 1992. It supports the programmatic needs of the Law School's faculty and students.

The Class of 1948 Fund was created by members of the Class in 1993 in honor of the 45th anniversary of their graduation. The Fund provides unrestricted support for the Law School's faculty and students, as directed by the Dean.

The Class of 1949 Dean's Discretionary Fund was created in 1989 by members of the Class of 1949 on the occasion of their 40th Reunion. The fund is utilized at the discretion of the Dean to further the central mission of the Law School.

The Class of 1950 Fund was created in 1990 in honor of the Class's 40th Reunion and is designated to provide support for the central educational and scholarly mission of the Law School.

The Class of 1951 Scholarship Fund was established in 1981 by members of the Class of 1951 to provide scholarships in the Law School.
The Class of 1952/Malcolm Sharp Scholarship Fund was established in 1982 by members of the Class of 1952 to provide scholarships in the Law School in honor of Law School Professor Malcolm P. Sharp (1933–65).

The Class of 1953 Fund was established in 1993 on the occasion of the Class’ 40th Reunion. The Fund will be used to support the central academic mission of the Law School through support of its faculty and students.

The Class of 1954 Fund was founded in conjunction with the Class’ 40th Reunion in 1994. The Fund provides unrestricted support for Law School programs.

The Class of 1955 Fund was created in 1990 in celebration of the Class’s 35th Reunion. The fund is dedicated to the maintenance and enhancement of the education and scholarly programs of the Law School, as designated by the Dean.

The Class of 1956 Fund was established in 1991 on the occasion of the Class’s 35th Reunion. Proceeds from the Fund are used to support the faculty and student programs of the Law School.

The Class of 1957 Fund was founded by members of the Class in 1992, in honor of their 35th Reunion. The Fund provides unrestricted support of the central scholarly and intellectual mission of the Law School.

The Class of 1958 Fund is designated to support faculty and student programs as designated by the Dean of the Law School. The Fund was created in celebration of the Class’ 35th Reunion in 1993.

The Class of 1959 Fund was founded to provide support for the Law School’s faculty and student programs. Class members established the Fund in celebration of the 35th anniversary of their graduation.

The Class of 1960 Fund was created in 1990 on the 30th anniversary of the Class’s graduation from the Law School. The proceeds of the fund are used at the Dean’s discretion to further the Law School’s central mission and improve the quality of education.

The Class of 1961 Fund was established in 1991 in celebration of the 30th anniversary of the Class’s graduation from the Law School. At the discretion of the Dean, the Fund will be utilized to provide support for outstanding educational and scholarly opportunities as they arise.

The Class of 1962 Fund was created to celebrate the 30th Reunion of the Class in 1992. Proceeds from the Fund are utilized by the Dean to support the central intellectual mission of the Law School.

The Class of 1963 Fund was established in 1993 as a part of the Class’ 30th Reunion celebration. Proceeds from the Fund are used at the discretion of the Dean to underwrite special projects and initiatives being undertaken by the faculty and students of the Law School.

The Class of 1964 Faculty Research Fund in honor of Soia Mentschikoff and Karl Llewellyn was created in 1988 by members of the Class of 1964 on the occasion of their 25th Reunion. The fund celebrates the contributions to legal scholarship, to the Law School community, and to the Class of 1964 in particular of these two renowned professors. The fund supports scholarly research by members of the Law School faculty. The fund supports faculty scholarship.
The Class of 1965 Faculty Fund was established in 1990 during the Class’s 25th Reunion celebration. The proceeds of the fund are utilized at the discretion of the Dean to support the faculty of the Law School.

The Class of 1966 Fund supports the needs of the Law School as identified by the Dean. It was created in 1991 by members of the Class in recognition of the 25th anniversary of their graduation.

The Class of 1967 Fund was constituted in 1992 to support the central intellectual and scholarly mission of the institution. Members of the Class created the Fund in celebration of their 25th Reunion.

The Class of 1968 Fund was created to mark the Class’ 25th Reunion in 1993, by providing support for special student and faculty initiatives as identified and approved by the Dean and thereby continuing the Class’ involvement with the Law School.

The Class of 1969 Fund supports the central academic mission of the Law School by providing unrestricted support for its programs. Members of the class created the Fund as part of their 25th Reunion celebration in 1994.

The Class of 1970 Fund was established at the Class’s 20th Reunion in 1990. The fund exists to further the academic pursuits and paracurricular interests of the students and faculty of the Law School.

The Class of 1971 Fund was established in 1991 on the occasion of the Class’s 20th Reunion, in memory of Richard Hudlin (J.D. 1971), a distinguished lawyer and jurist. Proceeds from the Fund are used to support minority and female student and faculty recruitment and advancement and to otherwise support the central mission of the Law School.

The Class of 1972 Fund underwrites the needs of the faculty and students of the Law School, as identified by the Dean. The fund was created by members of the Class as part of the celebration of the 20th anniversary of their graduation.

The Class of 1973 Fund supports the central intellectual and scholarly mission of the Law School. The Fund was created by the Class in honor of its 20th Reunion in 1993.

The Class of 1974 Fund was constituted by the class to provide the Dean of the Law School with unrestricted support to be used to strengthen the institution’s curricular and paracurricular programs. Creation of the Fund was one part of the Class’ 20th Reunion celebration in 1994.

The Class of 1975 Fund was created on the occasion of the Class’s 15th Reunion in 1990. The fund is utilized at the discretion of the Dean of the Law School to address educational opportunities as they arise.

The Class of 1976 Fund was established in 1991 in celebration of the Class’s 15th Reunion. Its proceeds will be used to support the educational and paracurricular mission of the Law School, as determined by the Dean.

The Class of 1977 Fund was founded by class members in 1992 to commemorate the 15th anniversary of their graduation. Support from the Fund is used by the Dean to address special needs or outstanding opportunities as they arise.

The Class of 1978 Fund is designated to support the work of faculty members and students engaged in projects and initiatives central to the Law School’s scholarly mission. The Fund was established in 1993 in honor of the Class’ 15th Reunion.
The Class of 1979 Michael Bernstein Fund was created in 1989 on the occasion of the Class's 10th Reunion, in memory of their classmate. Mr. Bernstein was killed in the downing of PanAm Flight 103 over Lockerbie, Scotland, while on a mission for the U.S. Department of Justice. The fund is used to provide loan forgiveness and other support for Law School alumni who enter the public service.

The Class of 1980 Fund was established in 1990 in honor of the Class's 10th Reunion. The fund is used by the Dean to support the Law School's central educational and scholarly mission.

The Class of 1981 Fund was established in 1991 in recognition of the Class's 10th Reunion. Pending future designation by the members of the Class, the Fund currently supports the unrestricted needs of the Law School as identified by the Dean.

The Class of 1982 Fund was created by the Class in celebration of its 10th Reunion in 1992. Pending further designation by the Class, the Fund is currently used by the Dean of the Law School to underwrite the needs and activities of the faculty and student body, in support of the Law School's central academic mission.

The Class of 1983 Fund was established by the Class in honor of its 10th Reunion in 1993, in order to support the needs of faculty and students. Proceeds from the Fund are utilized by the Dean to underwrite special projects and initiatives.

The Class of 1984 Fund provides unrestricted support for the central academic mission of the Law School. The Fund was founded by class members in celebration of the 10th anniversary of their graduation.

The Class of 1985 Fund was created by the Class on the occasion of its 10th Reunion in 1995. Pending further designation by members of the Class, the Fund supports the needs and activities of the faculty and students of the Law School as determined by the Dean.

The Class of 1986 Fund was established by the Class of 1986 in celebration of its 10th Reunion in 1996 to provide unrestricted support for the Law School.

The Class of 1987 Fund was created in 1997 in honor of the Class's 10th Reunion. The fund is used by the Dean to support the central educational and scholarly mission of the Law School.

LIBRARY FUNDS

The Leo H. Arnstein Law Library Fund was created in 1993 in memory of Mr. Arnstein, a 1926 graduate of the College and a member of the Law School Class of 1928. Mr. Arnstein's friends and family established this fund in memory of his long and distinguished career in the practice of law, and in acknowledgment of his lifelong commitment to the power and beauty of the written word.

The J. F. Bishop Memorial Book Fund was created in 1987 in memory of Julius Franklin Bishop (J.D. 1927) by his friend Abe L. Stein to support additions to the collection of the D'Angelo Law Library.

The Charles W. Boand Library Fund was established in 1967-68 by Mr. Boand, a member of the Class of 1933.
The George Gleason Bogert Memorial Law Library Fund was established in 1979 in memory of Professor Bogert, the James Parker Hall Professor from 1936 to 1950, and a member of the faculty from 1925 until his death in 1977.

The William Beveridge Cassels Book Fund was established in 1977 by Donald R. Kerr (Ph.B. 1934, J.D. 1936) and Margaretha M. Kerr (Ph.B. 1934) in memory of Mr. Cassels (A.B. 1932, J.D. 1934). This Fund has also been supported by relatives and classmates of Mr. Cassels. Proceeds from the fund are used to purchase materials for the collection of the D'Angelo Law Library.

The Louis G. Cowan Law Library Fund was established in 1961 by Mr. Cowan.

The Benjamin B. Davis Library Fund was established by his wife, Janice, and his son, Muller, in 1984. The fund to honor Mr. Davis (J.D. 1923) is for library materials in the domestic relations field.

The June Brendecke Davis Law Library Fund was created in 1991 by a bequest from the estate of Mrs. Davis. The Fund is designated for the support of the D'Angelo Law Library and is used to support the acquisition of materials for and preservation of the Library's collection.

The Allan T. Dunham Memorial Fund was established in 1964 by Professor and Mrs. Allison Dunham in memory of their son, for a general reading collection.

The Essington and McKibbin Memorial Fund was established in memory of two distinguished lawyers and public servants, Thurlow G. Essington (J.D. 1908), and George B. McKibbin (J.D. 1913), by Mrs. Essington and Mrs. McKibbin.

The Barbara Brown Fink Memorial Law Library Book Fund was established in 1982 by bequest under the will of Eli E. Fink, a graduate of the Law School in 1930.

The Jerome N. Frank Memorial Library Fund was established in 1961 by the friends of Judge Jerome Frank (J.D. 1913).

The Ernst Freund Memorial Book Fund supports the D'Angelo Law Library with a special emphasis on materials relating to judicial conduct and legal ethics and responsibility.

The Muriel and Maurice Fulton Book Fund in Law and Economics was established in 1978 by Mr. and Mrs. Fulton. Mr. Fulton is a member of the Class of 1942.

The Muriel and Maurice Fulton Law Library Fund was established in 1978 by Mr. and Mrs. Fulton. The fund is used to acquire non-legal periodicals which are placed in the Fulton Reading Room. Mr. Fulton is a member of the Class of 1942.

The Jacob I. Grossman Memorial Library Fund was established in 1975 by a bequest under the will of Jacob I. Grossman.

The William B. Hale Fund was established in 1944 by the family of Mr. Hale for the collection of materials for research and study in the field of monopoly.

The Walter Harnischfeger Library Fund in International Business Law was established in 1979 in memory of Walter Harnischfeger by the Harnischfeger Foundation for the acquisition of library materials on international business law.

The Wallace Heckman Memorial Fund was established in 1929 by Mrs. Heckman in memory of her husband, business manager of the University from 1903 to 1924.

The David Horwich Memorial Law Library Fund was established in 1965 in memory of David Horwich for furthering the study of Ethics and Law.
The Kellstadt Foundation Law Library Fund was established in 1984 in honor of Leo H. Arnstein, a member of the Class of 1928. This fund supports acquisitions in the area of business and corporate law.

The Elaine and Samuel Kersten Jr. Law Library Fund was established in 1978 through the gift of Mr. and Mrs. Kersten.

The KixMiller, Baar & Morris Law Library Fund was created in 1991 by Arnold I. (Ph.B. 1927, J.D. 1929) and Frieda Shure. It honors the careers of William KixMiller (Ph.B. 1908, J.D. 1910), Arnold R. Baar (Ph.B. 1912, J.D. 1914) and George Maurice Morris (J.D. 1915), civic leaders, founders of Commerce Clearing House loose leaf law services and of the Chicago and Washington, D.C., law firm which bore their names, at which Mr. Shure began his long and distinguished legal career.

The Archibald H. and Estelle P. Kurland Memorial Book Fund was established in 1971 in memory of Archibald H. Kurland and Estelle P. Kurland by their family and friends for the collection of research and study materials in the area of constitutional law.

The Mary Jane Kurland and Paul Michael Bator Book Book Fund was established in their memory by Philip B. Kurland and Alice H. Bator.

A special Law Library Endowment Fund has been established under the guidance and with the help of Arnold I. Shure (J.D. 1929).

The Wendell M. Levi Law Library Fund was established in 1987 by a bequest from the estate of Wendell M. Levi (J.D. 1915).

The McDermott, Will & Emery Law Library Fund was established in 1978 by partner Lorenz F. Koerber Jr. (LL.B. 1942), and is supported by gifts from other members of the firm.

The Burton Bancroft McRoy Memorial Book Fund was established in 1991 by Donald R. Kerr (Ph.B. 1934., J.D. 1936) and Margaretha M. Kerr (Ph.B. 1934). The Fund honors the memory of Mr. McRoy (Ph.B. 1928, J.D. 1930), a distinguished alumnus of the Law School. Proceeds from the Fund are used to purchase materials for the collection of the D'Angelo Law Library.

The Abner J. Mikva 10th Anniversary Book Fund in Law and Government was established in 1989 by Judge Mikva's clerks in honor of his 10th anniversary of service as a circuit judge of the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit. The fund is used to purchase books and other written materials for the D'Angelo Law Library in the area of law and government.

The Bernard and Emma S. Nathan and Maurice and Dorothy S. Kay Law Library Fund was established in 1986 by Stuart C. (J.D. 1965) and JoAnn Nathan in honor of Bernard and Emma S. Nathan and Maurice and Dorothy S. Kay.

The Abra and Herbert Portes Law Library Book Fund was established in 1987 by Ann, Gerald, Michael, and Joshua Yutkin in honor of the 50th Wedding Anniversary of Abra and Herbert (J.D. 1936) Portes.

The Herta Prager Law Library Fund was created in 1991 by Katharine Prager Darrow (A.B. 1965) and Peter H. Darrow (J.D. 1967), in memory of Mrs. Darrow's mother. Mrs. Prager was a member of the Law School Class of 1940 and served as law librarian for Northwestern University, the New Jersey State Library, and the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. The Fund supports the D'Angelo Law Library, with a special emphasis on European materials.
The Ernst Wilfred Puttkammer Law Library Fund in Criminal Law was established in memory of Mr. Puttkammer by Mrs. Puttkammer in 1979. Mr. Puttkammer was an alumnus of the Law School Class of 1917 and a professor at the Law School from 1920 until 1956.

The James Nelson Raymond Memorial Fund was established in 1929 by Anna L. Raymond as a memorial to her husband, James Nelson Raymond.

The Max Rheinstein Comparative Law Fund was established in 1974 by alumni and friends of the Law School in honor of the late Max Rheinstein, Max Pam Professor Emeritus of Comparative Law. The funds are used for adding to the Foreign Law Collection in the D'Angelo Law Library.

The Maurice A. and Rose Rosenthal Library Fund was created in 1978 through the gift of Maurice A. and Rose Rosenthal. Mr. Rosenthal was an alumnus of the Class of 1927.

The Samuel Schoenberg Memorial Book Fund was created in 1990 by Irene T. Schoenberg in memory of her husband, Samuel Schoenberg (Ph.B. 1933, J.D. 1935). The proceeds of the Fund are used for the acquisition of library materials.

The Malcolm P. Sharp Law Library Fund was established in 1980 by Mr. Lloyd E. Shefsky for additions to the Malcolm Sharp Collection. Mr. Shefsky is a member of the Class of 1965.

The Joseph Young Sieux Book Fund was established as a memorial fund in 1995 by Mrs. Kimmy Au Sieux and her family in honor of Mr. Sieux, a member of the Class of 1927. The proceeds of the Fund are used for the acquisition of materials for the Law School Library.

The Allen Sinsheimer, Jr. Law Library Fund was created in 1992 in memory of Mr. Sinsheimer (A.B. '35, J.D. '37) by his brothers Richard and Robert, and by his friend Lillian Cohen. The Fund is used at the discretion of the Dean of the Law School and the Law Librarian to purchase materials for, and to preserve the collection of, the D'Angelo Law Library.

The David M. Sloan Library Fund was established as a memorial fund in 1973 in honor of David M. Sloan, Class of 1951, by his family and friends. In 1985, it became a permanent source of support for the D'Angelo Law Library.

The Edward and Gilda Weiss Memorial Law Library Book Fund was established in 1987 by a bequest from the estate of Gilda Weiss.

The Edwin P. Wiley Law Library Fund was established in 1969 by Mr. Wiley, a member of the Class of 1952.

The Frederic Woodward Law Library Fund was established in 1961 by friends of Frederic Woodward, formerly a member of the faculty of the Law School, and a Vice-President of the University.

Honors and Prizes

The Ann Watson Barber Outstanding Service Award was established in 1978 by family and friends in memory of Mrs. Barber, who was the registrar at the Law School from 1962 until
1976. The award is given to a third-year student who has made an exceptional contribution to the quality of life at the Law School.

The Joseph Henry Beale Prize, named in honor of the first Dean of the Law School, is awarded to the first-year student in each section of the first-year legal research and writing program whose work is judged by the faculty to be most worthy of special recognition. These prizes are sponsored by Mead Data Central, producer of the Lexis service.

The D. Francis Bustin Educational Fund for the Law School was established in 1971 by provision of the will of D. Francis Bustin, a 1917 alumnus of the University, to give awards or prizes from time to time for a valuable and important contribution, proposal, or suggestion for the improvement and betterment of the processes, techniques, and procedures of our government or any of its branches or departments, at city, state, or federal level.

The Chicago Chapter of the Order of the Coif is an honor society founded to encourage and to advance the ethical standards of the legal profession. Its members are elected each spring from the 10 percent of the graduating class who rank highest in scholarship.

The Ronald H. Coase Prize for excellence in the study of law and economics was created in 1982 through the gifts of Junjiro Tsubota (a member of the Class of 1967). The award is made by the Dean of the Law School on the basis of recommendations from the editors of The Journal of Law and Economics, The Journal of Legal Studies and The University of Chicago Law Review.

The Hinton Moot Court Competition Awards are made to the winners of the Moot Court competition.

The Edwin F. Mandel Award is given to members of the graduating class who, during their Law School careers, have made exceptional contributions to the legal aid program, in both the quality of the work done and the conscientious exercise of legal aid responsibilities.

The Thomas R. Mulroy Endowment for Excellence in Appellate Advocacy was established in 1987 by Thomas R. Mulroy (J.D. 1928), Senior Counsel of the Chicago firm of Hopkins and Sutter, to fund the Thomas R. Mulroy Prizes for Excellence in Appellate Advocacy, which are awarded annually to the most outstanding participants in the Law School’s Moot Court Competition.

The John M. Olin Prize in Law and Economics was established in 1985 through the generosity of the John M. Olin Foundation. This annual award is given to the outstanding graduating law student in Law and Economics in the opinion of the Law and Economics faculty. The recipient will express, through his or her work, a dedication to outstanding scholarship and a broad understanding of the functioning of legal and economic institutions, together with their historic contributions to human liberty and progress.

The Casper Platt Award is awarded each year for the outstanding paper written by a student in the Law School. The award is supported by the Casper Platt Memorial Fund, established in 1968 in honor of the late Casper Platt (J.D. 1916), who served with distinction for many years as United States District Judge for the Eastern District of Illinois.